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Thursday, January 12, 2012


--- On commencing at 9:04 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Good morning, everyone.  Please be seated.

The Board has convened this morning in two matters, EB-2011-0242, an application made by Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc., and EB-2011-0283, an application of Union Gas Limited.


The Board has previously decided to hear these applications through a combined proceeding.  Pursuant to Procedural Order No. 2, which was issued on December 19th, 2011, the Board set today's hearing, the sole purpose of which is to hear submissions on whether the Board should stage the hearing of these applications by making provision for a first phase, which would consider threshold-type issues, to be followed, if necessary, by a second phase which would address the details of the Applicants' proposals on their respective merits.

The Board has received and read several brief written submissions.  Sitting with me are Cynthia Chaplin, Vice Chair, and Marika Hare, Board member.

May I have appearance, please?
Appearances


MR. CASS:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Fred Cass for Enbridge Gas Distribution.

MR. BRETT:  Tom Brett for BOMA.

MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren for the Consumers Counsel of Canada.

MR. HUGHES:  Good morning.  Jack Hughes for Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters.

MR. FORSTER:  Ric Forster for Direct Energy.

MS. THORSON:  Stephanie Thorson for Agri-Energy Producers' Association of Ontario.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I'm sorry, Ms. Thorson, could you press your little green button?

MS. THORSON:  Stephanie Thorson with the Agri-Energy Producers' Association of Ontario.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Ms. Thorson.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.


MR. MACINTOSH:  David MacIntosh for Energy Probe.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning.  Michael Buonaguro for VECC.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, members of the Panel.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  I'm joined by Josh Wasylyk of Board Staff.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board had anticipated an order of proceeding which would have the ^applicants go first, to be followed by anyone who supported the applicants' point of view with respect to the subject matter, to be followed by those who oppose, and then a brief opportunity for reply in the applicants.  Is that satisfactory to the parties?

Are there any preliminary matters?

Without further ado, Mr. Cass.
Submissions by Mr. Cass

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Mr. Chair, as you have already pointed out, Procedural Order No. 2 indicates that the purpose of today is to hear submissions about what the Board has called a process issue, and, in particular, whether this proceeding should be divided into two phases.

On behalf of Enbridge Gas Distribution, I submit that there is no reason to adopt a phased approach to this case in a way that would be unlike the procedure that is normally followed by the Board in most cases; not all cases, but most.  And, indeed, the point of my submissions, when I come to the end of them, will be that, if anything, the features of this case are such that it is a stronger situation for the Board to hear the case in its entirety than the normal case that might come before the Board.

That's the thrust of where I will be going, and I will work my way through some submissions to indicate to the Board why I am expressing that view to the Board.

For the purpose of these submissions, I have prepared a booklet of materials, and I think there are copies for the Board.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  We will bring those up, Mr. Chair, and I am going to unilaterally create a new designation for exhibits.  This isn't the hearing yet, so we can't call it K1.1.  It's not a motion, so KM would be my normal thing.

I will call this KP1.1, "P" for process issues.  That will be my contribution to today's proceeding.
EXHIBIT NO. KP1.1 - BRIEF OF ENBRIDGE MATERIALS

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It is exciting to break new ground, Mr. Millar, whenever you can.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, this is the materials relied upon by Enbridge Gas Distribution.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You are okay with that designation, Mr. Cass?

MR. CASS:  I think I can live with that, Mr. Chair.  I will do my best.  Thank you.

I would like to start my submissions by laying out what I think are two issues that lie at the heart of today's proceeding.  To get to those two issues, I start with two propositions that I think are somewhat basic.

The first one I have already referred to.  The first proposition I suggest, and I think this is fairly basic and obvious, is that although there are exceptions, certainly, the Board's usual way of proceeding with a case and hearing an application is to hear it as one proceeding without phasing or staging.

The first issue, then, that I say that arises out of that proposition is whether there is a basis in this case for an exception to that usual procedure.

The second proposition that I put forward, and I hope this isn't anything that would be other than obvious, is that, generally speaking -- and, again, there may be exceptions, but, generally speaking, a decision made after hearing a case in full and having the evidence tested is generally going to be better than a decision made before a full hearing of the case.

Again, there may be exceptions, but I suggest that's a general proposition.  I think that's the proposition that underlies the way the Board proceeds, and courts and many tribunals, that generally a decision after hearing everything is more likely than not to be better than a decision made after only hearing a piece of the case.

So the second issue, I say, that lies at the heart of today's proceeding is whether there is something in the particular issues in this case that would give rise to an exception to this general proposition that it's best to decide things after hearing everything and after having everything tested.

As I get to the main point of my submissions, as I have already said, my point will be that this is not a case for exceptions in respect of either of these two basic propositions.  On the contrary, it's very much the type of case, more so than the normal case, where the Board should hear and have tested all of the evidence.

But before coming to this, I just wanted to address what might constitute some exceptions to these general propositions that I put forward.  It seems to me, for example, if there was a genuine jurisdictional issue, if there was a genuine issue about the jurisdiction of the Board, that is an appropriate situation to have a phase or a stage to address that before the Board proceeds.

As the Board will hear as I go through these submissions, there is most certainly no genuine jurisdictional issue in this case.  This case is about an element of, in Enbridge's case, Enbridge's gas supply portfolio.  It's about gas.  In my submission, it's at the heart of the Board's jurisdiction, as far as gas is concerned, to consider the gas supply portfolio.  I will come back to that.

Another instance where it might be appropriate to have a phased or staged proceeding would be where there are sets of issues that have their own discrete sets of facts and findings that the Board would use for the purpose of those issues.

In that case, where the separate sets of issues have discrete sets of facts and findings, again, one can see that a phased approach would be appropriate.  I'd suggest the example of that would be the cases from the past where, in rate applications, there used to be a phase 1 for the revenue requirement and a phase 2 for cost allocation and rate design.

Very different facts and findings underlie the two phases.  I am just putting this forward as things for the Board to consider as to whether these circumstances are present in the case before us.  Is this that type of case?

Now, to discuss this a little further, I included at tab 1 of Exhibit KP1.1 the draft issues list in this case.  We don't, of course, have a Board-approved issues list yet.  This is the document that we have now to work with in terms of the apparent scope of this case.

The first issue in the draft issues list at tab 1 is:
"Do the applications fit with the objectives for natural gas under the OEB Act?"


This, in fact, has been part of the submissions that the Board has received.  There has been some suggestion that this issue - in fact, both of the issues under 1.0 - are appropriate for an initial phase of this proceeding.

If I could just take a minute to find VECC's submission on this, for example.  VECC put in a submission on January the 10th for the purpose of today's arguments, and down at the bottom of page 1 of that submission there are some words that I wanted to refer to.

I don't know if it's difficult to find it.  I don't know that you need to have it.  I will just read from it.  I will leave out some words, but I will read the words that are here.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Panel has it.

MR. CASS:  At the bottom of page 1, VECC says, "The evidence, interrogatories" -- I'm starting two lines into the last paragraph:
"... the evidence, interrogatories and oral hearing related to the issues under..."

Certain headings which I won't read:
"... would be entirely irrelevant if the Board were to, for example, determine that the applications do not fit within the Objectives for natural gas under the OEB Act and the proposed role for both Enbridge and Union in developing and implementing a RNG program is not reasonable and appropriate."


So here we have it, then, this suggestion that the objectives, a consideration of the objectives, is in some nature a threshold issue in this proceeding.

I object to that view most strenuously, Mr. Chair.  I do not subscribe in any way to the view that the objectives form some sort of threshold issue for a Board proceeding, and I would like to the address a few submissions to that.

First of all, this will be the main thrust of my submissions, so you will have to just bear with me on this, but, in my submission, it is so clear these applications are within the Board's jurisdiction.  It's essentially a non-issue.  I will come to that later.

Even if there was some doubt on this issue -- my second point, Mr. Chair, even if there was some doubt that these applications were within the Board's objectives, considering how the objectives might or -- how the applications might or might not fit the objectives is one of those issues that's best done in the context of hearing all of the evidence and having it tested.  That's my second proposition, which I will come back to.

My third proposition is the more fundamental one.  In my submission, this theory about a separate phase of the case to consider the Board's objectives is, in my submission, a misuse of the objectives.

I would like to use an example to illustrate this point.  As I have said, this case is fundamentally about a proposed or potential new element of Enbridge's gas supply portfolio.

Let me, for the purpose of this argument, take a different example.  Let's say, for example, someone discovered shale gas in Ontario.  Let's say that Enbridge came forward to the Board with a gas supply portfolio that had this new element, shale gas from Ontario.

If this theory is correct about the Board's objectives, before the Board could even consider that gas supply portfolio with this new element, there would have to be a review of these objectives.  The objectives are at tab 2 of the brief, if I could ask the Board to turn to that.

So in respect of gas, the objectives, as the Board is well aware, are in section 2 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998.  I won't go through them all, but just with my Ontario shale gas example in mind, one can look at these objectives:
"To facilitate competition in the sale of gas to users".

Well, this new source of Ontario shale gas is not going to do that.

"To protect the interests of consumers with respect to prices and the reliability and quality of gas service."


Well, this new source of Ontario shale gas, it may or may not be better in terms of price, reliability and quality.  It might not meet that objective.

"Facilitate rational expansion of transmission and distribution."

Shale gas is a source, as a piece of Enbridge's gas supply portfolio, is not going to affect that objective.  One can go down the list and the result is the same.  If that is going to be a threshold test for an application to the Board, in my example, for using Ontario shale gas portfolio -- Ontario shale gas as part of the supply portfolio, it doesn't work.  And because it doesn't work, then the question is:  Why not?

And I suggest to the Board that the reason that sort of threshold approach to the objectives doesn't work is because these objectives are not a set of criteria to be applied by the Board in a gatekeeper function at the outset of a case.  The section does not say that.  The section actually says something quite different.

The section says:
"The Board, in carrying out its responsibilities under this or any other act in relation to electricity, shall be guided by the following objectives." 


In my submission, not only do the objectives not establish a set of criteria that create a gatekeeper function for a particular case; they are not even the type of thing to be considered in a separate phase.  The wording of the section itself is that as the Board goes through carrying out its responsibilities, it's supposed to have regard to these objectives.  That could be at any time during a case.

It is most certainly not an issue that is conducive to a separate phase where we say, Let's look at how the objectives apply; if we decide the objectives apply, we move on to other issues.  That is not how these objectives work at all, in my submission.  These are something the Board has regard to through the course of a case as it carries out its responsibilities.  It is not something that is appropriate for its own phase at all, and it is certainly not something appropriate for an initial phase that is in the nature of a gatekeeper function.

The second -- if I could just go back to tab 1 of the brief, the second issue under heading 1.0 is the one that relates to the proposed role of Enbridge and Union.  The issue is:
"Is the proposed role of both Enbridge and Union in developing and implementing an RNG program reasonable and appropriate?"


I ask the Board to look at this issue in terms of the ideas I was putting forward as to what might be an appropriate type of issue for phasing or a staging approach.  This issue asks about the proposed role of the two companies in developing and implementing an RNG program.  That is essentially the whole case.  That is what -- in my submission, it is difficult to think of any aspect of this case that is not relevant to the proposed role of Enbridge and Union in implementing and developing an RNG program.

In my submission, this is anything but one of those issues I referred to where this is a separate set of facts and findings that is distinct from the facts and findings that the Board would use for the other issues in the case.

This issue is wrapped up in all of the facts and findings that the Board would consider for the purposes of reviewing all of the issues in this case.

Now, for this purpose, I thought it was interesting to see what Schools, SEC, had to say on this point.  So I have got School's submission from January the 12th here with me, as well.  I was going to briefly refer to that.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just before you do, Mr. Millar, we will find a way to identify, for the purposes of this record, the various written submissions that have been filed.  Perhaps you could in the interim sort of work on a little list and provide us, at the conclusion of Mr. Cass' remarks, with an inventory of those items with a designation.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, sir.  They have been prefiled.  If it's helpful, though, we can create a designation for identification purposes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thanks very much.  Sorry, Mr. Cass.  Please proceed.

MR. CASS:  It gave me a chance to quickly get some water, thank you.

At the bottom of page 2 of the School's letter dated January 10th, there is a numbered paragraph 8.  This paragraph starts out with a submission that:
"It is also not sufficient for the Applicants Enbridge and Union to demonstrate to the Board that bio-methane is in the public interest, SEC agrees that it is, and probably so do most other parties.  What they do have to demonstrate is that the benefits of bio-methane outweigh the cost consequences of essentially providing a subsidy to create a viable industry."


Well, taking that for what it is on its face, Mr. Chair, SEC is saying that what this case is all about, essentially, is a balancing or a weighing of benefits opposite costs.  The Board does that sort of thing very frequently.  That's the very sort of thing, in my submission, that the Board does after a full hearing, after having all of the evidence heard and tested.

That is not the sort of thing that is conducive to a phased proceeding, that the Board is somehow going to, in a phase of this proceeding, consider whether the benefits of the proposals outweigh the costs.

So for those reasons, I submit that this can -- that there is not a case made here that there are issues that are of the nature that are appropriate for a phased or staged proceeding.

That then brings me to what I have been saying as the main thrust of my submissions.  My main point to the Board is that regardless of these points that have been raised by other parties, this case is actually very much the type of case where the Board should want to and would take great value from a full examination of the case and a full testing of the case.

I do want to emphasize before embarking on these submissions that it's not my intention here to argue any so-called preliminary or threshold issue.  As I go through, I will certainly try to be making the point that there is no such thing.  However, I want to emphasize that I am not intending to argue the threshold issue.  I am trying to express to the Board my submissions that this is very much the type of case where the Board should want to hear, examine and have tested all of the evidence.

For that purpose, then, Mr. Chair, I will start back again at tab 2 of the brief, again, with the Board objectives in relation to gas.  It's item 5 of section 2 that I would ask the Board to focus on.  It's my submission -- when I make the point that the Board objectives are essentially a non-issue in the case, it's my submission that it's item 5 that's squarely, and really beyond question, encompasses the issues in this case.

Board objective number 5 in relation to gas is:
"To promote energy conservation and energy efficiency in accordance with the policies of the Government of Ontario, including having regard to the consumers' economic circumstances."


So there is two key aspects of this that I would like to elaborate on during my submissions.  The first is energy conservation and energy efficiency, the first aspect.  The second aspect is policies of the Government of Ontario.

Now, with respect to the first aspect, conservation and efficiency, I have included at tab 3 of the brief an excerpt from the overview evidence in this case.  I will just refer the Board to a few short passages from this evidence.

At the bottom of page 4 of 28 of the overview evidence, there is a discussion of anaerobic digestion.  It indicates that:
"Many waste streams which undergo natural anaerobic digestion release methane and CO2 into the atmosphere as they decompose. Relative to CO2, methane has the effect of creating 21 times more greenhouse gases ('GHGs').  The proposed RNG Program enables capture and redirection of methane that would otherwise be released into the atmosphere and turns the methane into a useful energy source.  This conversion of potentially wasted energy is critical when evaluating the environmental impact of generating RNG."


In other words, this is a central point of the case before the Board, is to prevent the wasting of an energy source.

Also, in the middle of the same page:
"After some of the impurities are removed, the biogas can be burned in an engine or turbine to generate electricity.  Biogas used for this purpose is typically only cleaned of contaminants that impact the reliability of generators; therefore the resulting gas offers a lower heat value than natural gas or RNG. The electrical conversion efficiency of these on-site generators is normally less than 40%.1."


And this dropping down to the very bottom of the same page:
"The RNG process can produce full-cycle efficiencies of up to 80% depending on the end-use natural gas equipment."


This case is all about energy conservation and energy efficiency.  It's about not wasting energy and it's about when RNG is actually used.  It's about using it more efficiently than burning it for electricity.  This case is squarely within the Board's objectives in relation to gas.

Now, lest the Board be under any apprehension that it's only Enbridge and Union that are saying this, I included a document at tab 4 of the brief.  This is a letter submitted in this proceeding by the Association of Municipalities of Ontario dated December 5th, 2001.  Again, I will just read some very short extracts from this letter, starting on the second half of the second paragraph:
"This proposal will assist municipalities in improving resource utilization in landfills and waste water treatment plants."

Skipping to the next paragraph:
"Municipalities across the province are collectors of renewable natural gas in the form of methane, which is generated by landfills and waste water treatment plants.  However, this resource remains under-utilized, as most collection is either flared off or inefficiently converted to electricity." 

The AMO is saying the same thing to you that Enbridge and Union are saying:  This is about not wasting energy and it's about using it more efficiently than the current situation where it can possibly be used, which is generation of electricity.

Now, the second point arising from item 5 of the Board's objectives in relation to gas is the policies of the Government of Ontario.  There was reference to this in the evidence, with cross-references to government regulations and websites, and from that, I've included just a couple of items in the brief relevant to the issue of government policy.

The first is at tab 5, and it relates to landfill gas, government policy in relation to landfill gas.  The evidence refers to the government's -- Ontario government's landfill collection and control regulation.  This is the item from the environmental registry posted by the government in relation to that regulation.

I will just refer the Board to one paragraph.  It's the third paragraph under the heading "Landfill Gas" on the first page of this document:
"Landfill gas emissions can be controlled by installing a network of collection wells and directing the gas by fans to facilities for use of the gas, for example, for the production of electricity or for uses of fuel by a nearby industry or for flaring.  Simply burning the methane to convert it to carbon dioxide reduces its global warming potential by about 95 percent."  

That's just flaring it and wasting it.  But the next sentence is the key one that I put to the Board:

"Use of the methane than for energy purposes can further reduce greenhouse gas emissions by replacing other energy sources such as natural gas or coal." 

That's the statement by the Ontario government in its description for the landfill gas collection and control regulation that it enacted.

The other side of this, in addition to landfill gasses, as the Board is aware, is the anaerobic digestion.  In the evidence, there was a reference across to the website of the Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs.

So at tab 5, again, just to get a sense of government policy in this area, I have included from the website of that ^ministry a document called, "Producing Biomethane and Renewable Natural Gas From Farm Food-Based Biogas Systems".  In the middle of the first page of that document, the Board will see a question:
"What is bio-methane or renewable natural gas?"

I won't read the whole paragraph, but it starts out by indicating what bio-methane is, and it goes on.  Then towards the end of the paragraph, it says:
"Methane is the primary ingredient in conventional natural gas.  Renewable natural gas, also known as RNG, is bio-methane that has been cleaned to meet natural gas pipeline quality standards."

This is what the Government of Ontario is telling the Ontario agriculture food industry, and indeed Ontario generally, this is what RNG is.

If I could take the Board to the top of page 2 of this document, "How is bio-methane used?":
"Once bio-methane has been created, it can be managed and used as a replacement for natural gas or other gaseous fuels.  Some of the common uses for bio-methane include injection into the natural gas pipeline.  Bio-methane that has been upgraded into RNG must meet specific minimum or maximum levels..."

And so on:
"... that must be pressurized..."

And so on:
"Once RNG is added to the pipeline, it is considered to be no different from natural gas."

This is exactly what I am telling the Board.  This is gas.  This is an element of gas supply:
"Depending on contractual models, it could be purchased by an end user or by the gas utility.  In the Ontario the process of pipeline injection is regulated by the Ontario Energy Board."

As indeed it is.

And there is much more on this document, Mr. Chair, on the same theme.  I did just want to highlight a point on page 3, again, just to confirm that it's not only Enbridge and Union that are talking about efficiency.

If you look at the first full paragraph on page 3, it's in fact the government, as well, that is talking about efficiency here, efficient use of biogas.

"When bio gas is generated for other purposes..."
and I am skipping some words here:
"... upgrading biogas to RNG allows for an efficient use of the energy in the fuel resulting in nearly all of the energy in the gas being converted for energy purposes.  In comparison, using biogas or RNG in a cogeneration system to produce electricity may result in losses and inefficiency if there is note an onsite use for excess heat from a cogeneration system."

Again, Mr. Chair, this is about efficiency and conservation of energy.  If I might just digress for a moment on that point, as well, I observe to the Board that the objectives in section 2 in relation to gas, they do not say in any way -- they do not talk about conservation and efficiency of natural gas.

They certainly do not talk about conservation and efficiency of conventional natural gas.  In relation to natural gas, the Board's objective is to promote energy conservation and energy efficiency.  It's not restricted to conventional gas.  It's not even restricted to gas.  It has to be on the gas side, of course, but in its consideration of matters on the gas side, the Board is told here that one of its objectives is to consider energy conservation and energy efficiency.

Now, the next item in the brief is a relatively older Board decision from 1988.  The reason I have included this document in the brief is because of my proposition to the Board that renewable natural gas is really nothing other than an element or a potential element of a gas supply portfolio.

In this particular decision from 1988, the Board considered issues with respect to Ontario gas supplies, in this case being conventional natural gas supplies.  And, again, I will just take the Board to a few extracts from the decision just to be sure that I set the context properly.

At paragraph 4.1 of the decision, there is reference to Consumers Gas.  As the Board is well aware, that is the previous name of Enbridge Gas Distribution.  The first sentence of paragraph 4.1 indicates that Consumers has access to Ontario gas supplies principally from two sources, Pembina and the company's own production.

Again, just to set the context, I will give the Board some indication of the arguments that were at issue in this case.  At the beginning of paragraph 4.3 on the next page, it's indicated:
"Counsel to Board Staff argued that the price proposed for company and Pembina production gas is significantly higher than true market value, citing several benchmark prices."

I won't go on with that paragraph.  The Board has it there. Paragraph 4.5 indicates Consumers Gas's reply:
"Consumers in reply reiterated its belief that Ontario production has advantages over extraprovincial supplies..."

And goes on to set out some of these advantages:  It's completely under Ontario jurisdiction, not subject to Alberta rules or restrictions, independent of the TCPL system, firm guaranteed supply.

And then the Board's finding is at paragraph 4.6:
"The Board accepts the pricing of Pembina production by reference that the companies delivered ACQ price net of discounts.  Although there may be cheaper gas available at this time from sources outside Ontario, the Board does not find it appropriate to value Ontario production without regard for quality of service factors."

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Cass, the Board has determined to make sure that the submissions we receive today are focussed on the process issue and do not sort wander -- I am not casting any aspersion on your submissions.

MR. CASS:  Yes, I understand.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Don't wander into discussion or argument with respect to issues themselves.

MR. CASS:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So just with that caution, if you could continue, and perhaps if others could just take note that the Board is interested in the process issue today, not in any substantive issue.

MR. CASS:  Yes, that's very useful, Mr. Chair, because I am actually at the point where I am going to try to wrap up all these things I have been saying into my submission on the process issue.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. CASS:  First of all, part of the process issue is this implication -- it seems to be only implication now.  In the initial letters to the Board, I believe it was actually put forward as a proposition that there should be a preliminary determination of a jurisdictional issue because of this issue that RNG could or would cost more.

That is indeed part of the submission that CME is continuing to make in relation to the preliminary issue.  My point to the Board is RNG is another source of local production.  This issue about whether there is something special about it because it costs more, the ship has sailed on that.

The Board has made decisions about this in relation to conventional local gas production.  There is no jurisdictional issue, most certainly, just simply because the cost may be higher.  It is not a question of jurisdiction.  There is no preliminary or threshold issue that needs to be decided for that reason.

The Board has addressed these types of issues.  I do want to digress, though, Mr. Chair, and make one thing very clear, if I may, because it is a potential source of uncertainty.

There are others of these decisions on local production, as I am sure the Board is aware.  I didn't bring them all, but there is a very important point that arises from this.  The Board says that it does not approve the prices, so the Board does not approve prices paid for local production.  It does not say, You shall pay producer X a certain amount for the gas.

The Board approves the cost consequences of buying that production and considers in that context, Well, will we approve it even if the price is a little higher?

That is a very important distinction, Mr. Chair, and I don't know whether it's any of the source of confusion about the issues in this case, because if I could just ask the Board to look quickly at the title of proceeding for this case, the title of proceeding, for example, in relation to Enbridge is:  "In the matter of an application by Enbridge Gas Distribution for an order approving and setting renewable natural gas prices for purchase of renewable natural gas."

Mr. Chair, that's not Enbridge's application.  Enbridge has asked for approval of the cost consequences of purchasing renewable natural gas.  It is not asking for approval of the prices that would be paid to the producers.

The reason this is important is because of my submission that this is not fundamentally different from the purchase of local production that the Board has considered in past cases, in a number of cases.  It is a source of local production, and it's not the setting of the price to buy it from the purchasers.

It's to consider the cost consequences of including in the gas supply portfolio a source of local production.  Because of the title of proceeding in this case, I think it's very important to make sure that that distinction is understood.

Now, again, in terms of the procedural issue, Mr. Chair, the concept of staging this case, having an understanding of what the Board has said in relation to conventional natural gas and local production, what is the difference about renewable natural gas that would cause one to think the Board needs a staging or a phasing to even consider whether that could be an element of a gas supply portfolio?

I suggest to the Board local production in the form of RNG has all the same advantages of conventional local production the Board considered in these past cases.  The difference is it has a whole bunch of additional benefits:  Reducing greenhouse gas emissions, supporting farmers and those who would want to create anaerobic digesters.

It has these additional benefits.  This seems to be causing some consternation in this case that we need a different procedure, we need a staging or a phasing.

In my submission, the fact there are some additional benefits beyond a source of gas that the Board has already considered, that is not a reason to think we need a staging or a phasing of this case.

Again, just so the Board does not think that I am creating arguments that are not actually being made here, I can refer the Board again to SEC's submission at the bottom of page 2, over to page 3.  SEC refers to the fact that bio-methane has these benefits.
"... the benefits of bio-methane cannot simply be general benefits, but must be of the type that Board can consider under the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998."


The proposition seems to be that because you have a whole range of an additional benefits here that you have never seen with a source of gas supply before, that somehow that effects the procedure in the case.

I did forget one thing as I was going through the materials.  These benefits are discussed in some detail in the material from the Ministry.  I have just very briefly encapsulated them, but the material at tab 6 from the Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs goes on, pages 3 and 4, with lists of benefits under different categories:  material treatment, waste management for food waste and byproducts, rural economic development.

There is a whole catalogue of benefits that the Board is not used to seeing.  In my submission, that is not a reason for the staging or the phasing of this case.  The suggestion by SEC is that there is some question whether the Board has jurisdiction to consider these types of benefits.  It's not clear to SEC at this time that all the specific benefits that Enbridge and Union outline in their application fall within the jurisdiction of the Board to consider.

In my submission, that's an extremely novel proposition.  When the Board considers the public interest, it considers the public interest of Ontario.  It looks at a range of factors.  That doesn't come up perhaps so much in rate cases.  It's perhaps more in cases like leave to construct cases where the Board is looking at public interest.  But when it does that, it's the public interest of Ontario.  It's the whole range of things that the Board might want to consider in terms of what will advance the province's public interest or perhaps hold it back.


There is no real issue about the Board's jurisdiction to consider some benefits that it's not used to seeing in a case concerning gas supply.

There may well be an issue about weighting.  Again, in leave to construct cases where different factors are brought forward as part of the public interest, it's certainly part of the Board's role to say, Some of these we give a different weight than others because of how they relate to what we do as a Board.  There may well be a question of weighting.

In my submission, there is no question here of a jurisdiction to consider these benefits.

So where I have been going, in general, with all of these submissions, Mr. Chair, is the following.  These proposals are in line with the Board's objectives, particularly item 5.  They are very much in line with government policy.  We see that the government is out actually -- through the Ministry of Agriculture, actually out there telling people renewable natural gas, by definition, is gas for injection into the gas pipeline.

They are in line with board policy.  They are in line with past Board decisions on local production.  My submission to the Board is:  Why would the Board not -- sorry for putting this rhetorically, but why would the Board not want to examine this fully and come to a good understanding of the implications of renewable natural gas and the prospects of natural gas, given these points that I've made?

In line with the Board's objectives, in line with government policy, in line with previous Board decisions, it's my submission that the Board should encourage a full examination of these issues, a full hearing and, yes, a full testing of these issues.  It would be valuable and meaningful for the Board to learn about renewable natural gas and to have it tested regardless of the ultimate outcome of the case.

Now, just in conclusion, Mr. Chair, I included one other item -- two other items in the brief.  The Terasen decision - it's now Fortis BC - is at tab 9.  I haven't referred to that in any detail, again, just in support of the proposition that renewable natural gas, it's gas.  It can be injected into a pipeline system, and there really isn't a need for preliminary or threshold issues to come to that conclusion.

Skipping over that, though, Mr. Chair, I would like to take the Board to the item that's at tab 10 of the brief.  This is from the Board's own website, as the Board would be aware.

This page is headed "Learn more about the OEB's Green Energy Initiatives."  And if I can skip down to the sentence just above "Resources":

"The Board has a number of initiatives under way to facilitate the creation of the clean green energy supply in Ontario."

I would like to emphasize one thing here, Mr. Chair, if I may.  This heading, this sentence, this is green energy.  It's not green electricity; it's green energy.  And I am just making comments here for the purpose of the submission I want to make to the Board.

But if you look at the actual initiatives, they all, one way or another, come back to electricity, electricity generation, smart grid.  The initiatives all come back to electricity.

The Board's initiatives relate to clean green energy supply.  In light of all of the things I have been saying about renewable natural gas, in light of the fact that it's under way as a Board-approved program in British Columbia, I submit to the Board surely the Board would want to learn and hear and have examined these proposals as part of its initiatives in clean green energy supply, given that there is not -- at least within this listing, there is not an initiative on the gas side.

This is an initiative on the gas side that is in line with all of the things that I cited, and I suggest to the Board that it's very much the type of thing that the Board should and would want to hear in full.

This brings me back to my opening submission that not only has there been no factors brought forward in this case to suggest that it's appropriate to the deal with it differently than the normal case.  On the contrary, I submit to the Board that the nature of this case is that you should want to hear it in full.  You should not be looking for reasons to divide it up into phases or treat it differently than your usual procedures.

That completes my submission, Mr. Chair, thank you, unless there is any questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Smith, you are next.
Submissions by Mr. Smith

MR. SMITH:  Good morning.  Union adopts Enbridge's submissions in their entirety.  I will be making a few brief additional comments.  I will be very brief.

Union provided written submissions on the phasing issue on January 10th.  In those written submissions, Union responded to the arguments that had been advanced at the procedural conference on December 16th.  That was the first iteration of why we should have a phased hearing.

Submissions have since been made on the 10th of January which present further iterations of why we should have a phased hearing, and this morning -- later this morning, we will have a third iteration of why we should have a phased hearing.

I think one of the things that this indicates is that phasing is inherently procedurally unwieldy.  It is, in our submission, implicit in most of the submissions that we have heard in favour of phasing that it's a relatively simple and straightforward exercise and that it will be efficient.

In practice, it's quite complicated.  The Court of Appeal has recently underlined this point in its decision, which is referred to in my written submissions, on the summary judgment rule, and I will just read to you very briefly from that decision of the court.  A five-member panel of the court issued this decision.  This is at paragraph 4:
"However it is equally clear that the amendments to Rule 20 were never intended to eliminate trials."

That's the rule to introduce a new summary judgment procedure:
"In fact, the inappropriate use of Rule 20 has the perverse effect of creating delays and wasted costs associated with preparing for, arguing and deciding a motion for summary judgment only to see the matter sent on for trial."

And so this is the perverse effect that we want to guard against is protracting the hearing of this application by means of a mechanism that's designed to introduce efficiency.

I take the Panel to that warning from the Court of Appeal just to underline the point that phasing is not straightforward, and, in my submission, it's already caused delay.

I will just briefly summarize the submissions, the written submissions, we made.  I understand you have them before you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  On that point, Mr. Smith, these were filed twice.  One was a corrected version.  While I read them carefully, I couldn't discern what the correction was.

MR. SMITH:  Just the date on the cover letter, apparently.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay, thanks.  I see that.

MR. SMITH:  That's the point I really want to foreground, are the perils in this approach.  As we said in those submissions, staging of the proceedings to deal with what are said to be threshold issues is unnecessary, inefficient and will result in added expense and delay.

I think it's important to be mindful, as Mr. Cass has invited us to be mindful, of the fact that the normal course is to hear an application.  And, in our submission, there has to be a good reason for departing from that tested approach, and in our submission we haven't heard one yet.

There is no serious question of jurisdiction here at all.  I don't see how, after the Advocacy Centre for Tenants Ontario decision, there can be any question about policy considerations displacing the Board's jurisdiction.

The written submissions of the intervenors in favour of staging the proceeding, which we had on the 10th, in our submission don't change anything.  I don't think we are really hearing anything new.  In substance, these are really submissions why, on the merits, this application or these applications should fail, and that's something to be decided on the basis of a full hearing of the application, in my submission.

So, again, phasing is not straightforward.  It is procedurally unwieldy.  I don't mean to suggest that the evidence in this case is simple, but we are dealing with an application record that's three-quarters of an inch.  I don't think anybody's anticipating an army of witnesses.  We are talking about a few panels.  In Union's submission, we should just get on with it.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  Is there anyone else who supports the position taken by Mr. Cass and Mr. Smith?  Mr. Brett and Ms. Thorson?  Mr. Brett, and then Ms. Thorson.  Thank you.
Submission by Mr. Brett


MR. BRETT:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Building Owners and Managers Association does support the position taken by Mr. Cass and Mr. Smith, and we endorse their arguments in their entirety.

I will make just a few brief comments, because Mr. Cass, in particular, has been extremely thorough in canvassing all of the issues.  And the bottom line for us is that we don't see any advantage in dividing the hearing into two pieces for two reasons.

Essentially, one is that we agree with the utility lawyers that there is no serious jurisdictional issue here.  We don't think that there is any doubt that the Board has the jurisdiction to do this.  This is a case about, in our view, purchases of gas.  Under the OEB Act, the utility cannot sell gas to its own, in this case, system customers without an order from the Board.

The convention is in Ontario, always has been, that gas is a pass-through cost under rates, under rate cases, and that the Board is interested in the utility's sources of gas.  It's interested in ensuring that the decisions that are made are prudent, all of this in the context of a rate case.

And as you will remember going back a few years, utilities bought gas from many different sources inside and outside Ontario, at many different prices, and those prices were all rolled together and the cost consequences of those various purchases and terms and locational gas transactions resulted in cost consequences which were filtered down through into a rates gas and emerged as the cost of gas, the sales price, if you like, for gas sold to system gas customers.

That's how the systems work, and we agree with Mr. Cass that this is simply an additional source of gas that the utility seeks to purchase.  It happens to be in Ontario.  It happens to be perhaps a little pricier relative to some other very low costs of gas that currently exist.

I don't want to get into the substance of these issues, but essentially that's what the case is about.  And as you have been reminded at least by the counsel for Union, there have been a series of Court of Appeal cases and Ontario high court -- Court of Justice cases over the last five years with a common theme, and that is the very broad jurisdiction the Board has to do its business in setting its rates.

And you can look at Justice Gouge's brilliant argument in the appeal from Consumers and Enbridge on the GDAR question.  I am sorry, I can't cite the case.  It was in January 2005 - I can provide the case numbers later - where he laid out the broad jurisdiction of the Board, as he saw it, in doing rates cases.

And in rates in gas, you will recall that the Board can use any method or technique it chooses to in setting rates.  You have the tenancy case.  You have the case of Ontario -- of Toronto Hydro appealing to the Board, appealing to two courts, on whether or not the Board had the right to say that any dividends that they pay must be approved by a committee of independent directors, and the Board's jurisdiction was reaffirmed there in some very strong language by Court of Appeal judges.

And even in instances where the Board itself doubted that it had jurisdiction and decided it didn't have jurisdiction, in the first instance, they have been told by senior courts that they have, for example, the tenancy case.

So, in other words, if you were going to say -- the person that wants to divide this into two has got to really hang their hat on one of two pieces of this.  The first is jurisdiction, and I think we have dealt with that.  The second is this notion of:  Is this an appropriate or reasonable role for the Board, and how does this line up with the objectives of the Board?

And just going back to jurisdiction for a moment, you all know very well that these objectives of the Board don't create independent heads of jurisdiction.  As Mr. Cass said, they are really things the Board needs to have regard to when it is carrying out activities that it has the jurisdiction to carry out, and I think that was made extremely clear by the Board itself in -- I think it was this Panel, or some members of this Panel.  Mr. Chairman, you were on this Panel in the recent case a year back of Ontario Power Authority's budget submission to the Board.

So that's pretty well established.  So really I concur with respect to the objectives of the -- having said that, with respect to the sort of coherence between what the utilities want to do here and the objectives, though, I would adopt Mr. Cass's analysis, which I think was very well done, with respect to paragraph 5 of the objectives, which deals with energy efficiency and energy conservation.

And, in fact, as I understand it, and I can't cite you the page reference, but in the tenancy case that was referred to, the Court of Appeal talked about the fact that in that very same case where the Board decided initially it didn't have the jurisdiction to put in place a low-income plan, the Board did approve a -- it did approve a fuel switching plan, which effectively switched -- gave an incentive for customers to switch from electricity water heaters to gas water heaters.

And the precise basis on which the Board did that, as I understand the court, is that it was in the interest of overall energy efficiency.  In other words, energy conversion efficiencies for electricity are in the order of 40 to 50 percent in Ontario.  Direct gas to heat, for water or for space, is in the order of 80 percent.  And that is what is meant by energy efficiency in the broad sense.

So coming back, then, to the question of why you would want to do this, the question about suitability and reasonableness or appropriateness, those are sort of -- in a way, they are sort of odd words, because in a way they sort of conflate jurisdiction and the question of just what is good regulatory practice.

But, in any event, what do they really mean?  I think what's really meant there is -- I think what the Board is getting at there:  Is this something that can be done, should be done, that will not violate any important considerations that we deem important in our regulatory practice?  For example, it won't result in some hideous increase, rate shock to residential customers.  It won't impair quality of gas.

In this case, there seems to be no question.  This is natural gas.  This is methane.  Impurities will be removed, just as liquids are removed from natural gas that comes out of Alberta or the Marcellus shale.  It is the same product, so it is gas.  It is natural gas.

So there isn't a quality issue.  Without getting into all the substance, my point I guess is, given that that's the meaning I think you have to put on this question about the role of the Board and whether this is reasonable or appropriate, you know, does this create undue risks for ratepayers?  Does it create undue risks for the Board?  Does it somehow, in terms of either quality or overall, impact on the customer's bill?

And the answer is you really can't tell that until you examine the whole case.  Here you have to get into the evidence itself.  You have to discover what kind of contracts are being used, what prices are being paid, what the overall mathematics looks like.  When you try to assess the overall cost impacts of taking this one extra source of gas and paying this type of price over this period, how is that going to affect the overall cost of gas under the purchase gas variance account mechanism.

To get to that, you have to analyze what is going on here.  You have to see who is paying for what.  What contributions in aid are being paid, if any?  What length of term do we have?  What's the pricing structure, all of the other -- essentially all of the other components of that issues list.

And until you dig into those things -- and also, you know, to have due regard to other government policies that are out there, GHC policy, the green energy act, the green economy act.  How do these, or do these not, feed into the rationale to the utility doing this?  That's all part of whether the role is suitable or appropriate.

I guess what I am saying is, on that second point, you really need to look at the whole -- you need to dig in and just do the case.  And I guess perhaps to paraphrase my colleague, you know, this is not a case of -- this is not a Toronto Hydro with millions and millions of pages of evidence and large conceptual and practical issues surrounding it.

This is a much more business-as-usual case with a fairly constrained record, and I think the most efficient way to do it would just be to get on with it and do it.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Brett.  Ms. Thorson.
Submissions by Ms. Thorson

MS. THORSON:  Thank you.  So the Agri-Energy Producers Association, which is the biogas association with an awkward name, has obviously tracked this submission very closely and agree with Mr. Cass's position.

The two main points I guess that we wanted to raise were the BC precedent.  Obviously we are assuming that a similar process would be followed here, and we are hoping that is the case.

Secondly, I think it really falls in line with the government's direction.  In a conversation with Ministry of Energy staff this week, they are following the hearing and welcome the hearing, and, really, the reasoning has been that the government hasn't produced incentives and policies on its own, have been more resource constrained.

So their staff have been very much focussed on the green energy act^ and the electricity side, but that is not to say that they don't support green energy on the heat side, which constitutes 50 percent of our energy use.

So I guess one of the questions is:  Where should the utilities go if they want to enable such a policy, if not the Ontario Energy Board?  That's one question.  And I guess given that we do have a green energy act and we are always charting new territory with that, this does fit within a green energy act, in our view, and so it's certainly not out of the realm of what is government policy.

And, in fact, it's the Ministry of Agriculture, not Ministry of Energy, that to date has taken more of a lead role in biogas, and, in fact, that government ministry is supporting our association to put together an innovation forum in March of this year on new markets for biogas, and specifically bio-methane.

So they are actively promoting understanding and exploring new applications for biogas beyond electricity to include injection into the natural gas grid, as you know, the number one opportunity for biogas beyond electricity production.

So this also points government policy supporting this.  So, again, if it's not the Ontario Energy Board, then where do the utilities go in order to purchase natural gas?

I think that concludes my remarks.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  Does that conclude all of the parties present who wish to speak in support of the utilities' position?  Mr. Warren, are you ready to proceed?
Submissions by Mr. Warren

MR. WARREN:  I am, thank you, sir.  Mr. Chairman, members of the Panel, the narrow issue before the Board this morning is a process issue, is whether the Board should consider these two applications in two phases.  The first is whether, as a matter of policy, the Board should consider these applications?  The second phase would be, if so, whether the application should be granted.

At this stage, the issue is not whether as a matter of policy the application should be granted.  That's for another day.  There is a collateral issue, which is whether -- if there are to be two stages, what process should be adopted for the first stage, for example, whether there is a discovery process required, and, if so, what are the constraints on that?

I think it's important, in my respectful submission, that we go back to what the evidence is in this case, because the evidence establishes the uniqueness of the case and also frames the policy issue.

I don't think the Board needs to turn it up, but in the prefiled evidence at Exhibit B, tab 1, page 1, under the heading "Purpose", the application -- the evidence states, and I quote:
"The purpose of this application is to establish a renewable natural gas program."

It's not to acquire gas for distribution to customers.  It's to establish a renewable gas program to - and I underscore the following words:

"... enable the development of a viable RNG industry in Ontario."

Those words, that purpose, takes this application out of the long historic stream - no pun intended - that Mr. Cass referred to.  On the same page, in numbered paragraph 1 at line 17:
"These proposed Ontario RNG supply prices are required to..."

And I underscore the following words:
"... support the development of the RNG market."

If the Board then turns -- and you don't need to turn it up, but in the same prefiled evidence at page 10, it says under the heading "The need for RNG supply prices", and I am quoting beginning at line 12:
"It is the view of the utilities and the experts retained for the purposes of this application that unless RNG prices are set (as proposed in the RNG program) a viable RNG industry will not develop in the near term."

In other words, what this application is about is whether or not the utilities should use system gas customers to support the development of an industry.  Again, I underscore the point that that takes this application out of the ordinary course and frames for the Board a critically important threshold policy issue.

On the same page:
"While this market-based pricing model operates effectively in the conventional (and mature) North American natural gas business, it does not provide..."

And I underscore these words:
"... a sufficient level of income or planning certainty for the revenue stream to be realized for the sale of the RNG commodity in an emerging RNG industry.  As noted above, an alternative is electricity generation as part of the OPA's FIT program."

Now, to pause there, it's implicit invitation for this Board in this application to play the same role as the OPA in developing and implementing a policy, and the threshold question is -- and I make no submissions on the substance of the answer to this:  Should the Board be playing that role?

I thought, until I heard the submissions this morning, that it was common ground that there was policy issue for the Board to determine.  I am not so certain, having listened to Mr. Cass's submissions, that there is.

But in my respectful submission, there are, if you wish, a cluster of policy issues.  I apologize for jumping around on this, but I should pause to say that there is only a draft issues list, and a large part of Mr. Cass's submissions were with respect to what the draft policy issues list means under issue number 1.  That is only a draft, and its terms haven't been fixed.

In my respectful submission, there are a number of, if you wish, policy issues for the Board to determine:  First, whether in setting rates under section 36 of the OEB Act the Board should take subsidizing the development of an energy source into consideration?

We concede that the Board does have the authority to consider policy questions.  The issue in this case will be whether it should adopt this policy; in other words, to use natural gas pricing to support the development of an industry.  That is a threshold question.

The second threshold question, whether just and reasonable rates can include rates charged only to one category of consumers - that is, system gas customers?  Thirdly, whether the decision to subsidize a renewable energy source for renewable energy is one which the government should take?  If the policy of the government is to support the use of renewable natural gas -- take it as a given that it is.  The question is whether residents as a whole should pay for it.  Is it the OEB's function to make the decision that one category of residents should pay to support the development of an entire government policy?

Is it an appropriate utility function?  Again, I underscore my submissions are not to the substance to the answers to those questions, but they are clearly, in my respectful submission, threshold questions which the Board can address.

The question, then, is whether or not, as a practical matter, the Board and all of the parties are better off addressing those matters at the threshold, because if the answers to those questions are, in whole or in part, no, the Board shouldn't perform that function, it is properly the role of the government to do that, then is there any need, looking at issues 2 through 4, to drill down through the mechanics of how this process would work?

In my respectful submission, the answers to the threshold questions are not aided by - indeed, they may be coloured to even's detriment by - a consideration of issues 2 through 4.

One of the questions is:  Are the Applicants prejudiced if those threshold questions are considered first?  In my respectful submission they are not, because those questions have to be answered before the Board goes through a consideration of the mechanics.  You can't confuse -- to put the matter another way, you can't confuse the analysis of what I term the mechanical issues, issues 2 through 4 in the draft issues list, with the threshold issues, which are clear.

Enbridge Gas has filed substantial material, in my friend Mr. Millar's very helpful ground-breaking numbering system, Exhibit KP1.1, all of which speak to the issue of whether or not bio-methane gas is a good thing.

It may very well be a good thing.  That's not the issue.  The threshold issue is a different one.  In our respectful submission, considerations of efficiency and drawing a bright line between the threshold issues and the mechanical issues would be efficient.  It would not result in a waste of ratepayers' money or a waste of time.

My final submission is on the mechanical issue of what that process should entail from our perspective.  Members of the Panel, we do not believe that an interrogatory process is required with respect to consideration of these threshold issues. 

We would be prepared, although not right away, between now and 10:30, to argue the issues, but we could do it reasonably quickly, and we are prepared to do it if the Board would prefer to do it in written fashion.

Others may want an interrogatory process.  We do not think it is required.  We think considerations of efficiency would allow people to make submissions on these threshold issues.  That is why, in our submission, we think everyone would benefit from a bifurcation of the process.

Those are my submissions.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.
Submissions by Mr. Hughes 

MR. HUGHES:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman, members of the Panel.  We have been asked to provide our views as to the appropriateness of dividing this proceeding into two phases.  In considering this issue and preparing our submissions, we were guided by the principle that in every Board proceeding, we should endeavour to identify the most efficient and least expensive manner of addressing the matters in issue.

This is a principle both derived from, and enshrined in, the Rules of Practice and Procedure, specifically Rule 2.01.  In the present case, CME respectfully submits that the most efficient and least expensive way of addressing these matters is by way of bifurcated process.

As has been suggested, the first phase of the bifurcated process would be a consideration of preliminary threshold questions.  To that end, we recognize there appears to be some disagreement among some of the parties, at least, as to what constitutes a preliminary threshold question.

Contrary to what has been suggested, we do not accept that a preliminary threshold question has to be jurisdictional in nature.  Rather, CME takes the position that a preliminary threshold question is any question, that resolution of which could negate the need to address other matters raised in an application.

Certainly they could be jurisdictional questions, but they could also be questions of fact, questions of law or questions of mixed fact and law, depending on the circumstances of a given application.

In this case, we take the position that the applications give rise to a preliminary question of mixed fact and law.  As Mr. Warren and others have pointed to, the applications provide two key provisos.  The first is the rates or premiums that Union and Enbridge are proposing to pay to RNG suppliers are greater than the prevailing market rates for conventional natural gas.  The second is, by way of these applications, they seek to recover those premium costs from ratepayers.

Consequently, we believe that the preliminary threshold question, or one of the preliminary threshold questions, would be:  Are these premium amounts over and above the prevailing competitive market rates for natural gas, which Enbridge and Union are proposing to provide to RNG suppliers, recoverable from ratepayers?

If the Board determines that the answer to this question is no, all of the corollary issues currently on the draft issues list would not need to be considered, and I say that for two reasons.

These are applications made pursuant to the Board's rate-making authority under section 36(2) of the Ontario Energy Board Act.  If the premiums are not recoverable from ratepayers, there are no other rate-making issues to be determined.

Secondly, based on the prefiled evidence, it does not appear that either Enbridge or Union would proceed with contracts with RNG suppliers if they are unable to recover the premiums from ratepayers.  Consequently, the rest of the issues are effectively rendered moot.  And I would argue, to a certain extent, those supporting the single-phase approach seem to concede that, where in some written submissions they have said it's analogous to a motion to dismiss or a motion for summary judgment.

They appear to be conceding, and I don't want to put words in their mouth, but the resolution of that question could end, effectively, the applications.

Now, Mr. Chairman, some of my friends have argued that answering a preliminary threshold question would actually waste and not save time and effort.  They say we would have to undertake a very detailed analysis of the full evidentiary record, weighing all of the evidence.

We respectfully disagree.  Like Mr. Warren, we believe that answering the preliminary threshold questions could be done on an expedited basis.  Whether there are limited interrogatories and maybe an additional day of hearing, whether oral or written submissions, we believe these questions could be addressed within a matter of weeks and not months.

And, as a result, we think it again speaks to the efficiency and the cost-effectiveness of the proceedings.

Depending on the Board's determination on these threshold questions, there may be no need for additional interrogatories or any other oral hearings, and that could significantly reduce the time, effort and cost of handling these proceedings.

If, however, the Board were to answer the question in the affirmative, the preliminary threshold question we have raised, that the premiums are recoverable from ratepayers, we could then proceed easily and quickly to a consideration of the balance of the applications on their merits without being encumbered by any uncertainty on that point.

The alternative proposed by my friends appears to be that we should hear every issue all at once and at the same time, after broad interrogatories and a full schedule of hearings.  Now, if that approach were adopted, all of the parties would effectively have to prepare for every issue, notwithstanding that the vast majority of them could be moot or rendered irrelevant if the preliminary threshold questions are ultimately answered in a way that the rest of the application need not be considered.

On that basis, it is difficult to assume or conceive how that could be the most efficient and most cost-effective way of proceeding in these proceedings.

In closing, therefore, CME submits that we should move to a bifurcated process and that the first phase should consider preliminary threshold questions.  The preliminary threshold question would propose is whether the premiums proposed by Union and Enbridge are in fact recoverable by ratepayers, and if that question is answered in the negative, as we submit it would be or be, there would no need to proceed with a review of the balance of the application on the merits.  They would effectively become moot.

Subject to any question you have, Mr. Chair, those are my submissions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Rubenstein.
Submissions by Mr. Rubenstein

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, Panel.  I won't spend any time discussing and repeating what has been said by my friend, Mr. Warren.  I think that he puts it very well about that this is not just a normal application with respect to the gas supply, but it is for, and most importantly for, creating a viable industry, and that that could be dealt with in a threshold manner.

I think that is extremely important.  What I want to discuss is why, in SEC's position, there is another reason that this should be a phased approach, and it's what I am considering evaluation issues that are going to inevitably arise in the weighing of these issues.

While consideration of the issues in a preliminary manner is not necessary for the Board to ultimately adjudicate those matters, with respect to -- relating to evaluation, it might be in the best interest of all parties.

It is important to recognize that Board has never considered many of the benefits outlined in the application, or they have never evaluated the benefits in this particular way.

The Board has never considered support for the Ontario economy before in this particular way, or the environmental benefits independent of, say, demand side conservation programs.  Which benefits the Board can consider and which benefits that it cannot consider would go to the weighing of the evidence, and that leads to an added cost to the parties, as it will require interrogatories on those issues, a testing of those benefits with the hearing panel.  Possibly some intervenors might want to provide expert evidence in either direction.

SEC submits it is not clear which benefit the Board can consider under the Act.  While the Board has broad rate-making authority under section 36, they are limited by the objectives of the gas pursuant to section 2 of the OEB Act.

Now, my friends have said that -- especially my -- Union Gas has said that, Well, looking at the Advocacy Tenant case, policy considerations the Board can consider, but a broad understanding, and the objectives don't provide for sort a jurisdictional block.

I will just quickly read from that decision:

"The Board must determine what are just and reasonable rates within the context of the objectives set forth in section 2 of the Act."

I think that's extremely important, that we must look at these things.  I think that's very important.  I don't want to engage deeply into this issue, but I will just say that it is not clear.  As an example, when the Ontario legislature passed the Green Energy and Green Economy Act, it made changes to the objectives of both electricity and gas.

With respect to electricity, it included the promotion of energy -- sorry, electricity, it said at section 1.1(5):
"To promote the use and generation of electricity from renewable energy sources in a manner consistent with the policies of the Government of Ontario."

It didn't include such an objective with respect to gas, and we think that's extremely important.

The second point is, unlike in DSM proceedings, which clearly do deal with the issues of conservation and energy efficiency, there has been no policy consultation or Board guidelines that set out how the Board should weigh the costs of the premium versus the benefits, you know, the litany of benefits that have been provided in the application by Union an Enbridge.

There has been no cost benefit analysis that has been developed for procuring bio-methane supply at the price level aimed at creating a viable industry.

I say this because while there are clearly benefits, they are in a way unhelpful to the Board unless they can be compared against these added costs of the program.  Many of the specific benefits simply cannot be provided by way of the interrogatory process.  The measurement might take and the calculations may require experts to be retained to provide analysis.

In all the other proceedings involving conservation and energy efficiency in both the gas and the electricity side - CDM or DSM - the Board has required the programs to be subject to some type of cost benefit analysis, either the total resource cost, program administration costs.

And during the lead-up and during the consultations with respect to the recent DSM guidelines, there was even some discussion of the societal cost test, which is even broader.

It seems to SEC that the Board would benefit at an early stage, if it decides it wishes to stay these applications, until the Board could go through some sort of consultation process to determine how they are going to evaluate these benefits versus the costs, or simply it could seek input at a preliminary phase from all parties to provide guidance to the utilities of what material it would need to provide and undertake so that the Board would properly be able to weigh the costs and benefits.

Setting the scope of this application and determining how the Board will evaluate the application through a first phase, SEC believes that it seems preferable, as it may shorten the overall hearing length, the necessary disclosure and the ultimate costs.  But, more importantly, it would provide the Board with a better framework for evaluating this extremely novel program for the benefit.

I just want to make, before I finish, sort of a number of comments with respect to what we heard from Enbridge and Union today.  Mr. Cass mentioned that in reading my submissions this morning, that it's SEC's position that it's all about weighing the costs and benefits, and to do that you need to hear all the evidence.

If you continue reading that paragraph that he had quoted from, I continue to state that in a threshold manner, if we could scope which benefits the Board can consider, it would be easier to do that.  And we think that's very important.

With respect to -- and this is at his tab, at Enbridge's tab 9.  They rely on the Terasen Gas decision out from the BC Commission.  I will just say, if you read at page 1, it talks about that this application was filed against the backdrop of the continued evolution of British Columbia's energy policy, the most recent addition, the Clean Energy Act.

If you go to the Clean Energy Act, which I pulled up quickly, it specifically talks about the promotion of biogas.  It's in the act.  The words, the definition and the objectives of that are very, very different to what's in the green energy act or the Ontario Energy Board Act.  We think that's very important.

And just lastly with respect to the comments BOMA that this is not like other rate applications, you know, there isn't voluminous material to review, you know, it's in our position that might actually be a problem.  In fact, if you -- in pages 8 through 10 of the application, it sets out specific benefits, but not a lot of detail, and the mathematical -- and the calculations that the Board will need to undertake to weigh those sort of costs versus the benefits, we think that at an earlier stage, deciding what information the Board does need will provide a benefit to all parties.  Those are my comments.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Buonaguro.
Submissions by Mr. Buonaguro

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  You will have seen our written submissions, and I would suggest that our position isn't unlike the positions put forward by Mr. Warren and Mr. Hughes in terms of the possible great efficiencies in bifurcating the process into phase 1 and phase 2 based on the threshold issue about the role of the utilities in trying to establish the renewable gas industry in Ontario.

I would only add, because my submissions were specifically pointed out by Mr. Cass, he spent a lot of time focussing on the aspect of our submissions which talk about the objectives issue, which is in the draft issues list, as being one of the threshold issues we would contemplate being examined.

But I think Mr. Warren, in particular, his comments stressed - and we agree - that the real issue here is whether or not the proposed role of both Enbridge and Union, in developing and implementing an RNG program, is reasonable and appropriate.

That is certainly the threshold issue which is probably going to garner the most attention in any phase 1 proceeding that the Board might contemplate, and that the determination of that issue could very well make moot, as we put in our written submissions, the rest of the issues, because if it's not reasonable or appropriate for Enbridge or Union to engage in a renewable natural gas program, then you don't need a pricing framework.  You don't need to determine volume caps, and you don't need to establish a supporting structure.

The fact is that while Mr. Cass spent a lot of time talking about the benefits of bio-methane, the problem here is that there is a cost consequence of that, as he points out should be the real thrust of the applications by the companies, and it's whether or not that cost consequence is something that they can appropriately pass on to consumers, and particularly system gas consumers as they are proposing, is something that's appropriate for them to be doing.

And that, I think, is sort of the poster child of a threshold issue before you get into the details of exactly how you are going to do it.  It's not unlike other proceedings we have been in.  I don't think it would be inappropriate to make an analysis, for example, to the THESL case we just heard, where there is a threshold issue whether they should be doing cost of service at all in the content that why were in, rather than hearing the entire cost of service application first.  And the Board determined, No, we will do the threshold issue first.

I don't think that there is an analogy there.  Subject to any questions, those are our submissions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Buonaguro, and maybe it's not fair to just make this question to you, but I guess it probably also applies to the submissions of Mr. Warren and Mr. Hughes and perhaps Mr. Rubenstein.

This argument that it's more efficient, isn't that predicated on the answer to the preliminary question, being of the view that your parties seem to be taking?

MR. BUONAGURO:  In the first mental draft of my oral submissions, I was going to say it's interesting that, generally speaking, if you think the preliminary issue is going to fall -- is going to determine that there is no appropriate role, then obviously the most efficient way to do it would be to do phase 1, phase 2.  If you think you are going to win, as I suggest Mr. Cass was -- although he wasn't arguing the threshold issue, he was giving us a lot of information about what he would be arguing on the threshold issue.

He obviously thinks that they are going to win, and, therefore, any phasing would be less efficient.  I understand that maybe there is a risk analysis by the Board in determining whether there is -- if there is a fairly -- I don't want to say put a particular measure to it, but if there is any likelihood or any reasonable likelihood that this threshold issue could eliminate the rest of the hearing, then it might be worth the risk.

But as I put in my written submission, you could obviously hear everything together and wait to see what happens, but there are parties putting forward a suggestion to the Board that there is a preliminary issue which could make most of the rest of the proceeding moot, and for that reason you might consider phasing it.  I mean, if you don't -- to put it bluntly, if you don't phase the proceeding, then nobody's rights are going to be prejudiced, because we are going to be making the same arguments we would in phase 1 in the total proceeding.

I see Mr. Cass nodding.  It is the safest thing to do, but then I think there is a real possibility of a phased approach making the rest of proceeding moot.  And on top of that - and I think this feeds into what Mr. Rubenstein was saying - even if it doesn't make it moot, it might focus it in certain ways, depending on what determinations the Board might make on the threshold issue.  That's also a possibility that the Board might consider in terms of phasing.

We didn't originally make up submissions -- VECC didn't originally make submissions on phasing.  We made submissions on the particulars of the issues list, and then this issue came up and the Board invited submissions on whether phasing might be appropriate.  And having looked at it the second time, we think there might be room for it in this case.

MR. WARREN:  I wonder, Ms. Chaplin, if I could respond to your question, but I am not sure I heard the full question, so perhaps you could pose it again, because I was one of the ones who argued there were efficiencies involved.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I have two questions.  The first question is the argument, which I believe some of the parties who are in favour of phasing are making, is that it will be more efficient to phase it, and I am wondering if that is only true in the case where the first phase leads to a conclusion which effectively ends the hearing at that stage.

MR. WARREN:  I think answer to that is no, with respect.  And I posit two things in response to that.  The first is we are going to have to argue all of the cluster of threshold issues, in any event, if you do a combined phase or a bifurcated phase.  They are going to be argued.

Mr. Cass may not be happy about that, but that's the reality.  They are going to be argued.

The second thing is, if we try and imagine what a combined phase would be, if the Board were today, for example, to say, We are going to have a combined -- consider the application as a whole, there would be a substantial number of interrogatories on issues 2 through 4, which were the mechanical issues, and all of that may be unnecessary.  The time taken for the interrogatories and the production of all of that paper and examination on that may be unnecessary if the answers to the threshold questions are, No, the Board should not, as a matter of policy, be doing that.

MS. CHAPLIN:  That was exactly my question.  I am just saying your conclusion of greater efficiencies is predicated on a particular answer to the first phase that, in other words, it will not -- will it still be more efficient if the Board were to hear a preliminary issue cast in some way and to come to the conclusion that, yes, it is at least possible that this is appropriate, and we will now continue to hear the full proceeding?

I guess I am trying to understand in any realm in which that will lead to more -- will still be more efficient.

MR. WARREN:  I am sorry, I am no doubt characteristically missing your point, but let me take it from the back end.  Let's suppose the Board hears all of the evidence.  There is an interrogatory process.  There is an oral hearing process, and so on and so forth, at the end of which the Board says, We have decided as a preliminary matter that we ought not to consider this application, and it decides it at that end.

It is not necessarily the answer to the question.  It's when you answer it.  That is what creates the efficiencies.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I guess a corollary question is you have posited that the preliminary questions could be considered without further evidentiary processes, but I guess I am wondering if the applicants might take a different view.

They might want to have -- they might want to bring witnesses in terms of having some oral testimony with respect to a preliminary issue, however it might be characterized.  And I am just wondering:  Do we run a serious risk of duplicating, you know, having to hear -- I guess how do we draw the bright line, which ensures that there is not duplication in evidence between a first phase and a second phase, or that we don't end up having to hear more and more of kind of the broader case for the purposes of trying to determine the preliminary issue?

MR. WARREN:  You are asking me how you discipline lawyers?  I don't have an answer to that question.  First of all, I don't know what my friend's position is with respect to whether an interrogatory process is required were you to bifurcate the case.  I don't know what their position is on that.

The second thing is it's really a function, I think at this stage, in the first instance, of getting a precise -- precisely framing the issues on the issues list, because as they are now framed, issues 1.1 and 1.2 are a shade below, in my respectful submission, the required degree of precision for those questions.

But if they are framed as narrowly as I think they can be framed, I do not personally see that you need to expand on the evidentiary records.  They are really questions of policy on which we can make submissions.  I hope that answer is helpful.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes, thank you.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Forster.
Submissions by Mr. Forster

MR. FORSTER:  As per our submission on December 13th, we believe the crux of the matter in this case is whether it is appropriate for the utilities to engage in these types of activities.

Issues 1.1 and 1.2 we believe address this, and should the Board find it not appropriate, then we believe that the remaining issues on it would fall away.

In support of CME's position that a jurisdictional issue is not required as a threshold matter, I would refer to the Board's decision EB-2009-0172 where there was a jurisdictional question proposed.  And that was Enbridge's 2010 rate application where green energy initiatives were proposed to be recovered from rate base.

And on page 5 of the decision of that preliminary matter on whether the Board had jurisdiction to hear the evidence, the Board said:
"The Board has determined that even if it does have the jurisdiction to include the costs associated with these programs in rate base, a finding that we explicitly do not make, we will not allow these costs to be included in rate base for the reasons set out below."

And then the Board went on to articulate the number of reasons as to why Enbridge should not participate in those activities and have those costs recovered from rate base.

And we feel that the question of whether the utility should engage in this activity is relevant as a preliminary matter and that the Board has previously determined that Enbridge should not enter into these types of activities while they are recovering it from rate base.

So it would seem appropriate that the Board can take a look at a threshold question as to whether it's appropriate, and then determine whether or not we should have a full blown oral hearing.  Those are my submissions.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  No submissions, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Millar, do you have a roster for designation for the filed materials?

MR. MILLAR:  We can give it a number now, sir.  I was going to on the break compile them all together.  That may be easier.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's satisfactory.  Thank you.  Mr. Cass, a brief reply.

Reply Submissions by Mr. Cass

MR. CASS:  Thank you, sir.  There is one point, in particular, that struck me, Mr. Chair, as I listened to the submissions of intervenors.  There is certainly no criticism of anyone intended.  Because of the way the process has unfolded, it was difficult for the applicants to know just what is this preliminary issue that is being responded to by way of these process arguments.

We certainly did have the benefit of some written arguments earlier this week.  Now we have heard more about potential preliminary issue or cluster of issues, Mr. Chair, what struck me in particular is that of the parties or at least the primary parties supporting this notion that there should be a hearing of a preliminary issue, each had a different idea of what the issue or issues might be.

I apologize that I could not write fast enough to get down everybody's issues and everybody's ideas, so I won't be able to do justice to them from my notes.  I just simply could not write that fast.

However, we know from Mr. Buonaguro's written submission, which he still stands behind, that he is supporting issues 1.1 and 1.2 of the Board's issues list as a preliminary issue.  I apologize in advance to Mr. Rubenstein.  I couldn't write fast enough, but he was talking about the preliminary phase being useful to develop input on how the costs and benefits would be measured.  That's another idea of the preliminary issue.

Mr. Hughes' idea of the preliminary issue is it would relate to the recoverability of the premium, and that would be the issue.  And I definitely have to apologize to Mr. Warren.  He gave three issues.  It was the first time I heard them.  There is no criticism there.  It is just the way this issue has developed.  They were three policy issues that have been raised here, at least to my ears, for the first time.

We now have a range of thinking about what this preliminary issue might be.  In my respectful submission, that itself is a very strong indication to the Board that these thoughts about preliminary issues are best left until the case is heard and the case has been fully examined and tested.

There is not even a concrete and consensus view here in this hearing room about what this threshold issue might be if the Board proceeds in this fashion.

My second point, I would like to come back to Ms. Chaplin's question, if I may, because that of course is a very important question:  What is the efficiency or what is the gain of hearing stages or threshold issues unless one presumes the outcome?

It is true, Mr. Chairman, my submissions were for the purpose I described, to express to the Board my view that this case is very much the type of case that the Board should want to examine fully and have fully tested before making determinations.  It is true in the course of doing that I did talk about matters that are relevant to the potential preliminary issues.

That is the difficulty.  How do the applicants address these preliminary issues and whether it's appropriate to try to deal with them without presuming what they are, and then trying to say there is no such preliminary issue.  That is part of the dilemma.

So then to come back to Ms. Chaplin's question, in my submission, that is exactly the point of really what I was trying to say, is how -- why do you establish a preliminary phase or preliminary issue, but for the view that this would bring some efficiency to the proceeding, and how do you know that without presuming a view of the issue?

Again, I could not write down fast enough, but when the question was put to Mr. Buonaguro - and the transcript will reflect the real words - he said something to the effect, Well, if there is any reasonable likelihood that you are going to decide that one way on the preliminary issue, that is a reason why you should do it.

In my submission, Mr. Chair, that's exactly why this is wrong.  That means that if you direct a preliminary issue, it's an indication you have already formed a view on that one way before you have heard the arguments.  That is exactly why there is a problem here.  There is a chicken-and-egg difficulty.

So I commend the Board to the words of Mr. Buonaguro on the transcript.  Again, I apologize that I can't recite them accurately.  But he did say a reasonable likelihood that you would decide one way on this issue is a reason for you directing it as a preliminary issue.  That means you have prejudged it at that point.  You haven't heard it yet, but you have prejudged the issue.

That is a fundamental problem with what is happening here today, in my submission.

Do you have a question there, Mr. Sommerville?

I have one other point.  I did want to try to address Mr. Warren's points.  Again, I'm not being critical at all.  It is the way this issue has developed.  It is the first time I have heard those three policy questions.  No criticism intended.

I couldn't write them down fast enough, but certainly the thought that was in my mind with some, if not all of them, was, yes, the Board could benefit from having all of the evidence and a full testing of the evidence to decide those things.

He was talking about what you would do under section 36, and, in my submission, having a better understanding of the cost consequences, if the cost consequences are relatively tiny or they are relatively large, or the benefits are relatively huge or relatively small, those are all going to be things, in my submission, that are going to affect this so-called policy issue under section 36.

In my submission, you are going to have a different view of that policy issue, depending on all of the different aspects of this case.

There was one other aspect of what Mr. Warren said that I think is even more important, and, again, it goes back to what I was trying to say in my argument-in-chief.  Mr. Warren brought you to aspects of the evidence that talk about the development of a viable industry.

His point to you was, Okay, decide that as a policy question, and if decide that against the applicants, maybe the case goes away.  In my submission, that's exactly what I was trying to say to the Board in my argument-in-chief you should not do.  You should have a full examination of this, and you should understand RNG, its potential and its implications.

You might decide at the end of this case, no, we will not do this to support the development of a viable industry.  As a policy decision, we will not do that.  You might decide that at the end of the case, but you might say, But for other reasons, in view of the benefits that we think are appropriate to take into account, in view of what we consider the cost consequences to be, in view of any number of things, you might form a different decision.

So, in my respectful submission, it's too narrow to take a piece of out this and say, Okay, if you decide that as a policy matter, the case is over.  

This is why I was trying to stress in my submissions-in-chief to the Board this is very much the type of thing the Board could benefit, everyone could benefit, from a full examination of, costs, benefits, implications, prospects.  Where does this go for the Ontario gas industry?

Maybe it is or is not the development of a viable gas industry, but that is for the Board to decide after it has heard the whole case.  Sorry, Mr. Chair.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  Mr. Smith.
Reply Submissions by Mr. Smith

MR. SMITH:  I have three brief points to make in reply.  The first is with respect to a submission made by CME characterizing what we are seeking as a single-phase approach.  I don't think that's quite right.  I think what we are asking for is a hearing of the application, which is the normal thing to do.

To characterize it as a single-phased approach in counter position to a dual-phased approach is to suggest that both are straightforward and normal.  They are not.  We are asking for the normal thing, and, in my submission, nothing has been said that justifies a departure from the normal course.

My second submission is with respect to the distinction that I think is important between a threshold issue and an important issue.  They are not the same.  In my view, much of what we are hearing characterized as a threshold issue is in fact what the intervenors consider the most important issue.  That may or may not be correct, but it's best decided in the context of a full hearing.

Third, finally and most importantly, I would like to return to the point of the procedural unwieldiness of bifurcation.  In my argument-in-chief, I suggested that bifurcation is inherently procedurally unwieldy.  I reiterate that position, and specifically with reference to what Mr. Warren characterized as the cluster of threshold issues that would have to be determined in the course of a full hearing or presumably at the threshold stage, cluster of threshold issues.  That should give us pause.

Ms. Chaplin asked, How do we draw a bright line around these issues?  That, in my submission, is the key question, and it's a very difficult question to answer and it is a protean exercise in trying to control process that I think is -- it's very easy for us to lose our way in that context.

So, in my submission, I don't think it's easy to draw a bright line around a cluster of threshold issues.  I think we should proceed to a normal hearing.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Rubenstein, you don't get a right of reply but...

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am quite aware of that.  I forgot to mention something.  This was passed to me by Mr. MacIntosh before he had to exit, because he has two different proceedings going on simultaneously.

He just wanted -- and this is somewhat self-serving.  He just wanted to pass on to the Board that Energy Probe supports SEC's position, just so it's on the record.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  The Board will adjourn until 25 minutes to 12:00.  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman, I am sorry, just before you go, I have another obligation which requires me to leave at 11 o'clock.  So I mean no disrespect to the Board if I am not here when you return.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 10:57 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:35 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  First, the Board would like to just deal quickly with the designation of the various written materials that were filed.  As indicated earlier, the Enbridge Gas Distribution supporting materials will be designated as KP1.1.

The Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters' submission will be KP1.2.  The submission by Green Energy Coalition will be KP1.3.  The submission by Just Energy will be KP1.4.  School Energy Coalition will be KP1.5.  Union Gas Limited's filing will be KP1.6, and the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition filing will be KP1.7, for future reference.
EXHIBIT NO. KP1.2:  SUBMISSION OF CANADIAN MANUFACTURERS & EXPORTERS

EXHIBIT NO. KP1.3:  SUBMISSION OF GREEN ENERGY COALITION.

EXHIBIT NO. KP1.4:  SUBMISSION OF JUST ENERGY.
EXHIBIT NO. KP1.5:  SUBMISSION OF SCHOOL ENERGY COALITION.
EXHIBIT NO. KP1.6:  SUBMISSION OF UNION GAS LIMITED.
EXHIBIT NO. KP1.7:  SUBMISSION OF VULNERABLE ENERGY CONSUMERS COALITION.
DECISION


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board has come to a determination on the staging question.  The Board is not convinced that the circumstances of these cases support or favour staging.  Without making any determination with respect to any of the jurisdictional issues or the other threshold issues that have been raised or discussed here today, the Board considers that its consideration of all the relevant aspects of these applications is best accomplished if the applications are heard as a whole without any staging.

This ruling is not intended to inhibit or prejudge in any matter whatsoever any issues, jurisdictional or otherwise, that any party may want to raise in the course of this combined proceeding.

Accordingly, the Board will issue a procedural order in due course which will establish the issues list for the combined proceeding and set out the schedule of events for the proceeding.  This schedule will not contemplate any staging.

Are there any questions with respect to the Board's ruling?

Thank you very much.  The Board stand adjourned, and stay tuned for the procedural order, which we will issue in due course.  And thank you very much for your very able submissions today.  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 11:37 a.m.
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